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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 
 
  2017  2016 

 Notes QR’000  QR’000 

     

Rental income  1,487,555     1,605,044  

Dividends income from available-for-sale financial assets  241,848        226,892  

Net gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets  500,221   755,976 

Net gain on sale of investments in associates   177,777  210,334 

Other operating revenues 22 228,769   83,549 

Operating expenses 23 (352,763)   (336,135) 

     

OPERATING PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  2,283,407   2,545,660 

     

     

Share of results of associates and joint ventures 13 141,354   189,804 

Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary  6 -          41,241  

Gain on acquisition of an associate 13 -          37,371  

Gain (Loss) on revaluation of investment properties 12 427,748         (28,173) 

Other income 24 57,461   15,569 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  5 (33,895)  - 

General and administrative expenses 25 (241,984)   (297,882) 

Depreciation 14 (15,596)   (14,696) 

Impairment loss of available-for-sale financial assets 21 (67,487)         (51,286) 

Impairment loss of investments in associates 13 (162,194)  - 

Finance costs 26 (703,264)      (623,253) 

       

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING 

OPERATIONS 

 

1,685,550 
  

1,814,355 

     

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS     

     

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 6 (3,549)  (9,411) 

     

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  1,682,001  1,804,944 

     

     

 Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the parent  1,693,201  1,812,456 

Non-controlling interests 19 (11,200)  (7,512) 

     

  1,682,001  1,804,944 

     

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 27 0.64  0.68 

     

     

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS 27 0.64 

 

0.69 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

 
  2017  2016 
 Note QR’000  QR’000 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR   1,682,001  1,804,944 

    
 

Other comprehensive income    
 

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods:  
 

 
 

Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets 21 (326,785)  (283,232) 

Gain on cash flow hedges 21 17,198  6,267 

Share of net movement in Fair value reserves of associates 21 (2,667)  986 

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve 21 (1,800)  - 
 

   
 

Total other comprehensive loss for the year  (314,054)  (275,979) 

    
 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  1,367,947  1,528,965 

 
Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the parent  1,379,147  1,536,477 

Non-controlling interest  (11,200)  (7,512) 

     

  1,367,947  1,528,965 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

 

 Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent   

 

Non- 

controlling  

interest 

  

 

Share 

capital  

Legal 

reserve  

Fair  

value 

reserves  

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve  

Retained 

earnings  

 

 

 

Total 

  

Total 

equity 
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
                

Balance at 1 January 2017 26,524,967  1,403,358  329,580  1,954  1,882,299  30,142,158  431,534  30,573,692 

                

Profit (loss) for the year -  -  -  -  1,693,201  1,693,201  (11,200)  1,682,001 

Other comprehensive loss for the year -  -  (312,254)  (1,800)  -  (314,054)  -  (314,054) 

                

Total comprehensive income (loss)  for the year -  -  (312,254)  (1,800)  1,693,201  1,379,147  (11,200)  1,367,947 

                

Movement in non-controlling interest -  -  -  -  -  -  (416,197)  (416,197) 

                

Transferred to legal reserve -  169,320  -  -  (169,320)  -  -  - 

                

Dividends for 2016 (Note 28) -  -  -  -  (1,326,248)  (1,326,248)  -  (1,326,248) 

                

Transferred to Social and Sports Activities Fund (Note 20) -  -  -  -  (42,330)  (42,330)  -  (42,330) 
                

At 31 December 2017 26,524,967  1,572,678  17,326  154  2,037,602  30,152,727  4,137  30,156,864 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
For the year ended 31 December 2017 

 

 

 Attributable to the equity holders of the Parent   

 

Non- 

controlling  

interest 

  

 

Share 

capital  

Legal 

reserve  

Fair  

value 

reserves  

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve  

Retained 

earnings  

 

 

 

Total 

  

Total 

equity 
 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
                

Balance at 1 January 2016 26,524,967  1,222,112  605,559  1,954  1,622,648  29,977,240  403,991  30,381,231 

                

Profit (loss) for the year -  -  -  -  1,812,456  1,812,456  (7,512)  1,804,944 

Other comprehensive loss for the year -  -  (275,979)  -  -  (275,979)  -  (275,979) 

                

Total comprehensive income (loss)  for the year -  -  (275,979)  -  1,812,456  1,536,477  (7,512)  1,528,965 

                

Movement in non-controlling interest -  -  -  -  -  -  35,055  35,055 

                

Transferred to legal reserve -  181,246  -  -  (181,246)  -  -  - 

                

Dividends for 2015 (Note 28) -  -  -  -  (1,326,248)  (1,326,248)  -  (1,326,248) 

                

Transferred to Social and Sports Activities Fund (Note 20) -  -  -  -  (45,311)  (45,311)  -  (45,311) 
                

At 31 December 2016 26,524,967  1,403,358  329,580  1,954  1,882,299  30,142,158  431,534  30,573,692 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 31 December 2017 
 

 

 Notes 
2017 

QR’000  

2016 

QR’000 

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Profit for the year   1,682,001  1,804,944 

Adjustments for:     

(Gain) loss on revaluation of investment properties 12 (427,748)  28,173 

Depreciation 14 15,596  15,732 

Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary 6 -  (41,241) 

Gain on acquisition of an associate 13 -  (37,371) 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  5 33,895  - 

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits  11,635  11,426 

Share of results of associates and  joint ventures 13 (141,354)  (193,198) 

Allowance for impairment of receivables 25 1,565  37,552 

Provision for inventory slow moving items 25 4,683  - 

Reversal of allowance for impairment of receivables 8 (9,391)  - 

Government compensation 12 (171,971)  - 

Impairment loss of available-for-sale financial assets 21 67,487  51,286 

Impairment loss of investment in associates  13 162,194  - 

Profit on Islamic bank accounts 24 (42,872)  (12,599) 

Net gain on sale of available-for-sale-financial assets  (500,221)  (755,976) 

Net gain on sale of investments in associates   (177,777)  (210,334) 

Finance costs 26 703,264  623,253 
     

  1,210,986  1,321,647 

Working capital changes:     

Receivables and prepayments  69,509  189,181 

Inventories  (7,740)  1,072 

Payables and other liabilities  221,806  1,216,864 

     

Cash from operations  1,494,561  2,728,764 

Employees’ end of service benefits paid  (7,569)  (2,647) 

     

Net cash flows from operating activities  1,486,992  2,726,117 

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of property and equipment 14 (32,309)  (29,524) 

Payments for development of investment properties  (254,459)  (1,853,213) 

Payments for purchase of completed investment properties 12 (3,064,117)  (151,306) 

Purchase of available-for-sale-financial assets  (300,261)  (4,290,020) 

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale-financial assets  3,171,350  3,729,654 

Proceed from sale of investments in associates  533,210  586,724 

Payments for purchase of investments in associates and joint ventures  -  (342,451) 

Acquisition of a subsidiary net of cash acquired  -  (151,766) 

Dividends received from associates  13 109,624  205,633 

Profit on Islamic bank accounts received  42,872  15,329 

Net movement in restricted bank balances  (1,465)  (1,582) 

     

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities  204,445  (2,282,522) 

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  16 1,992,865  3,821,699 

Payments for Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  16 (2,402,140)  (3,522,113) 

Dividends paid  (952,379)  (937,088) 

Net movement non-controlling interest  (384,505)  (1,313) 

     

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (1,746,159)  (638,815) 

     

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (54,722)  (195,220) 

     

Net foreign exchange difference  (1,800)  - 

     

Cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January  423,072  618,292 

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS OF  31 DECEMBER 7 366,550  423,072 
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1 CORPORATE INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

 

Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. (“the Company”) (formerly known as Ezdan Real Estate Company Q.S.C.) is a Qatari 

Public Shareholding Company registered in the State of Qatar under the Commercial Registration Number 15466. 

The Company was established on 24 May 1993 as a Limited Liability Company, and was publicly listed on Qatar 

Exchange on 18 February 2008. 

 

The name of the Company was changed from Ezdan Real Estate Company Q.S.C. to Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. 

based on a resolution from the Extraordinary General Assembly Meeting that was held on 17 September 2012. 

 

The Company’s registered office is located at P.O. Box 30503, Doha, State of Qatar. 

 

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries include financial and administrative control over a 

company or more by owing at least 51% of its shares, investment in shares, Sukuk, financial securities, and other 

investments inside and outside the State of Qatar, owning patents, commercial works and privilege , and other rights 

using them and renting them to others, providing real estate consulting services, managing property and collect 

rentals and providing property maintenance works. 

 

The principal subsidiaries of the Group are as follows: 

 

 

Name of the Company 

Share 

capital 

Country 

of 

incorporation 

 

Effective percentage 

of ownership 

   31December 

2017 

31 December  

2016 
     

Ezdan Hotels Company W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Ezdan Mall Company W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Ezdan Real Estate Company W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Al Ruba Al khali Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Al Ekleem for Real Estate and Mediation Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Al Taybin Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Al Namaa for Maintenance Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Shatea Al Nile Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Arkan for Import and Export Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Tareek Al Hak Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Manazel Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Een Jaloot Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Tareek Al-Khair Trading Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Alkora Alzahbya Co. W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 100% 100% 

Ezdan International Limited GPB  10,000 Jersey 100% 100% 

Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L. QR 200,000 Qatar 67.50%   67.5% 

Ezdan World W.L.L.  QR 200,000 Qatar 70% 70% 

 

 

The Parent of the Group is Al-Tadawul Holding Group Q.S.C. ( the “Parent”) which aggregately owns directly and 

indirectly through its subsidiaries approximately 54 % of the share capital of the Group as at 31 December 2017                

(31 December 2016: 54%). 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been prepared in 

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Standards 

Accounting Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of Qatar Commercial Companies’ Law No. 11 of 2015. 

 

Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for investment 

properties, available-for-sale financial assets, and derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value. 

The methods used to measure fair values are discussed further in Note 33. 

 

Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Qatari Riyals, which is the Group’s functional and 

presentational currency. All financial information presented in Qatari Riyals has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand except otherwise indicated. 

 

Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts 

of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
   

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 
 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements, assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a 

significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year is disclosed in Note 4. 

 

 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

New and amended standards and interpretations adopted by the Group 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those 

of the previous financial year, except for the following new and amended IFRS recently issued by the IASB and 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations effective as of 1 January 

2017. 

 

The following amended accounting standards became effective in 2017 and have been adopted by the Group in the 

preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements as applicable. Although these new standards and 

amendments applied for the first time in 2017, they did not have any a material impact on the annual Consolidated 

Financial Statements of the Group. 

 

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative 

Annual Improvements Cycle - 2014-2016 

Amendments to IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the scope of disclosure 

requirements in IFRS 12 

 

The Group has not early adopted any other standards, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is no 

yet effective. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s  

financial statements are disclosed below. The Group is currently evaluating the impact of these standards. The 

intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective. 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which replaces IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three 

aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge 

accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 

permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information 

is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospectively, with some limited 

exceptions. 

 

The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date and will not restate comparative 

information. During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed impact assessment of all three aspects of IFRS 9. 

This assessment is based on currently available information and may be subject to changes arising from further 

reasonable and supportable information being made available to the Group in 2018 when the Group will adopt IFRS 

9. Overall, the Group expects no significant impact on its statement of financial position and consolidated statement 

of equity except for the effect of applying the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The Group expects an increase 

in the loss allowance resulting in a negative impact on equity as discussed below. In addition, the Group will 

implement changes in classification of certain financial instruments. 

 

(a) Classification and measurement 

The Group does not expect a significant impact on its consolidated financial position or consolidated statement of 

equity on applying the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at 

fair value all financial assets currently held at fair value. Quoted equity shares currently held as available-for-sale 

with gains and losses recorded in OCI and should be recognised in other comprehensive income. Amounts presented 

in other comprehensive income should not be subsequently transferred to profit or loss, although the cumulative 

gain or loss may be transferred within equity . The AFS reserve of QR (7,522) related to those quoted shares in 

amount, which is currently presented as accumulated OCI, will be reclassified to retained earnings. The equity 

shares in unquoted shares are intended to be held for the foreseeable future. No impairment losses were recognised 

in profit or loss during prior periods for these investments. The Group will apply the option to present fair value 

changes in OCI. Tenant receivables and due from related parties are held to collect contractual cash flows and are 

expected to give rise to cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest. The Group analysed the 

contractual cash flow characteristics of tenant receivables and due from related parties concluded that they meet the 

criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. Therefore, reclassification for the tenant receivables is not 

required. 

 

(b) Impairment  

IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its tenant receivables and due from related 

parties, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach and record lifetime 

expected losses on all receivables. The Group has determined that, due to the unsecured nature of its receivables, 

the loss allowance will increase by QR 13,429 thousand with corresponding related decrease in the enquiry with 

the same amount. 

 

(c) Hedge accounting 

The Group determined that all existing hedge relationships that are currently designated in effective hedging 

relationships will continue to qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. The Group has chosen not to 

retrospectively apply IFRS 9 on transition to the hedges where the Group excluded the forward points from the 

hedge designation under IAS 39. As IFRS 9 does not change the general principles of how an entity accounts for 

effective hedges, applying the hedging requirements of IFRS 9 will not have a significant impact on Group’s 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

(d) Other adjustments 

In addition to the adjustments described above, on adoption of IFRS 9, other items of the consolidated financial 

statements such as investments in the associate and joint venture, will be adjusted as necessary. 
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3       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued) 

In summary, the impact of IFRS 9 adoption is expected to be, as follows: 

 
  

Impact on equity as of 31 December 2017: QR’000 

  

  

Receivables and prepayments (13,429) 

  

Retained earnings (13,429) 

 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014, and amended in April 2016, and establishes a five-step model to account for 

revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 

consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. 

The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full 

retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The Group will continue to assess the potential effect of IFRS 15 on 

its consolidated financial statements. 

 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture 

The amendments address the conflict between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary 

that is sold or contributed to an associate or joint venture. The amendments clarify that the gain or loss resulting 

from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its 

associate or joint venture, is recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting from the sale or contribution of assets that 

do not constitute a business, however, is recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the 

associate or joint venture. The IASB has deferred the effective date of these amendments indefinitely, but an entity 

that early adopts the amendments must apply them prospectively. The Group will apply these amendments when 

they become effective. 

 

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2 

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting 

conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based 

payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a 

modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash 

settled to equity settled. 

 

On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 

application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The amendments are effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. The Group is assessing 

the potential effect of the amendments on its consolidated financial statements. 

 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 

contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 

Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation 

and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar 

to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – 

leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 

months or less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments 

(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the 

right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and 

the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 
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3       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRS 16 Leases (continued) 

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change 

in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine 

those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an 

adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 

 

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will 

continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two types 

of leases: operating and finance leases. 

 

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 

 

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but not 

before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a 

modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. In 2018, the Group will 

continue to assess the potential effect of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. 

 

Transfers of Investment Property — Amendments to IAS 40 

The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or 

development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the 

property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. 

A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. 

Entities should apply the amendments prospectively to changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the 

annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the classification 

of property held at that date and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions that exist at that date. 

Retrospective application in accordance with IAS 8 is only permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. 

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early application of the amendments is permitted 

and must be disclosed. The Group will apply amendments when they become effective. However, since Group’s 

current practice is in line with the clarifications issued, the Group does not expect any effect on its consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle (issued in December 2016) 

 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Clarification that measuring investees at fair value 

through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice  

 

The amendments clarify that: 

• An entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial recognition 

on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair 

value through profit or loss. 

 

• If an entity, that is not itself an investment entity, has an interest in an associate or joint venture that is an 

investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement 

applied by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s 

interests in subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, 

at the later of the date on which: (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) 

the associate or joint venture becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint 

venture first becomes a parent. 

 

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2018, with earlier application 

permitted. If an entity applies those amendments for an earlier period, it must disclose that fact. These amendments 

are not applicable to the Group. 
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3       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related 

asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 

relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the 

non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments 

or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of advance 

consideration. Entities may apply the amendments on a fully retrospective basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply 

the Interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that are initially recognised on or 

after:  

 

(i) The beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation 

Or 

(ii) The beginning of a prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements 

      of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation. 

 

The Interpretation is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early application of 

interpretation is permitted and must be disclosed. However, since the Group’s current practice is in line with the 

Interpretation, the Group does not expect any effect on its consolidated financial statements. 

 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries (“the 

Group”) as at 31 December 2017. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns 

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

 

•  Power over the investee 

•  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  

 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee. 

 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

statement of income and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains 

control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income (‘OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of 

the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 

having a deficit balance. These consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies 

for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. When necessary, adjustments are made to the 

financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.  
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3       SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Business combinations and goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 

the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure 

the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable 

net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses. 

 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 

conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 

acquiree. 

 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope 

of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair 

value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 

amount recognised for non-controlling interests) and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 

transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities 

assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the 

reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 

transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 

impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 

the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 

assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

 

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and plan of the operation within that unit is 

disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 

relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over 

those policies.  

 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint ventures. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an 

arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties 

sharing control. The Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous consent 

for strategic financial and operating decisions. 

 

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to 

determine control over subsidiaries. 

 

The Group’s investments in its associates and a joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. 

 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying 

amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates or a 

joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associates or a joint venture is included in the 

carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued) 

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associates and 

joint ventures. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when 

there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associates or a joint venture , the Group recognises 

its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses 

resulting from transactions between the Group and the associates or a joint venture are eliminated to the extent of 

the interest in the associates or a joint venture. 

 

The aggregate of the Group’s  share of results associates and  joint ventures is shown on the face of the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

The financial statements of the associates and a joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the 

Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group’s 

accounting policies. 

 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment 

loss on its investment in its associates and a joint venture . At each reporting date, the Group determines whether 

there is objective evidence that the investment in the associates and joint ventures are impaired. If there is such 

evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the 

associate or a joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of income.  

 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associates or a joint control over the joint ventures, the Group measures 

and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the 

associates or a joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained 

investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement income. 

 

Revenue recognition 

Rental income 

Rental income receivable from operating leases, less the Group’s initial direct costs of entering into the leases, is 

recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, except for contingent rental income which is 

recognized when it arises. 

 

Incentives for lessees to enter into lease agreements are spread evenly over the lease term, even if the payments are 

not made on such a basis. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term 

for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the directors are 

reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option. 

 

Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognized in the 

consolidated statement of income when they arise. 

 

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants 

Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognized in the period in which the expense can be 

contractually recovered. Service charges and other such receipts are included gross of the related costs in revenue, 

as the directors consider that the Group acts as principal in this respect. 

 

Sale of property 
Revenue from the sale of property is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, 

recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing 

involvement with the transferred property, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 

 

Transfers of risks and rewards vary depending on the individual terms of the sale contract of property, however and 

in the lack of other contractual determinants, it is presumed that risks and rewards are transferred to the buyer upon 

transfer of possession of the sold property. 

 

When the Group is contractually required to perform further work on real estate already delivered to the buyer, the 

Group recognizes a provision and expense for the present value of the expenditures required to settle its obligations 

under such further works. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

Revenue recognition (continued) 

Services revenues 

Revenues from services rendered is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in proportion to the stage 

of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys 

of work performed. 

 

Finance income 

Finance income is recognized on a time apportionment basis using the effective profit rate method.  

 

Dividends income 

Dividends income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established which is generally 

when shareholders approve the dividend. 

 

Investment properties 

Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn rental income, including those under development, 

or for capital appreciation or for both are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.  

 

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are stated at fair value which reflects market condition at the reporting date. Gains and losses 

arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of income 

in the period in which they arise. Fair values are determined based on semi-annual revaluation performed by an 

accredited external independent valuer applying a valuation model recommended by the International Valuation 

Standards Committee. 

 

Investment properties are derecognised either when have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn 

from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal 

and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in the statement of consolidated income in the period of 

derecognition. 

 

Property that is being constructed for future use as investment property is accounted for as investment property 

under the fair value model. Property under construction is designated as investment property only if there are 

unambiguous plans by management to subsequently utilize the property for rental activities upon completion of 

development, or if there is undetermined future use of the property and hence the property is held for long term 

capital appreciation. 

 

Transfers between property categories 

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced 

by: 

 

(a)  commencement of owner-occupation, for a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied 

 property; 

(b)  commencement of development with a view to sale, for a transfer from investment property to 

 inventories; 

(c)  end of owner-occupation, for a transfer from owner-occupied property to investment property; 

(d)  commencement of an operating lease to another party, for a transfer from inventories to investment 

 property. 

 

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair 

value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognized directly in equity 

as a revaluation surplus. Any loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair value to owner-occupied property or inventories, the 

property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting in accordance with IAS 16 or IAS 2 shall be its fair value at the 

date of change in use. 

 

For a transfer from inventories to investment property that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the 

fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount shall be recognized in consolidated statement 

of income. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Property and equipment 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. 

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 

assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a 

working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site 

on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 

capitalized as part of that computers and office equipment. 

 

Depreciation is recognized in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of each part of an item of property and equipment.  

 

The estimated useful lives of the depreciable assets are as follows: 

 

Buildings 20 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years 

Furniture, fixtures, and office equipment 2-5 years 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date. 

 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 

circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the 

carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount.  

 

Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property and equipment that is accounted for separately 

is capitalized and the carrying amount of the component that is replaced is written off. Other subsequent expenditure 

is capitalized only when it increases future economic benefits of the related item of property and equipment.  All 

other expenditure is recognized in the consolidated statement of income as the expense is incurred. An item of 

property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 

use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the consolidated statement of 

income in the year the asset is derecognized. 
 

Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Costs are those expenses incurred in bringing 

each product to its present location and condition. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis.  

 

Net realizable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion 

and disposal. 

 
Financial instruments  

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 

equity instrument of another entity. 
 

Financial assets 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 

hedge, as appropriate. All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 

not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the 

financial asset. 
 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets with in a time frame established by regulation 

or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: receivables and available-for-

sale financial assets. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Financial instruments (continued)  

 
Financial assets (continued) 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank 

balances and bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less, unrestricted balances held with banks, 

and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities ranging three to six months, which are subject to 

insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term 

commitments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts and restricted bank balances.  
 

Receivables  

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market. After initial measurement, such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, receivable are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

profit method, less any impairment losses. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income.  
 

This category generally applies to tenants receivable, amount due from related parties, refundable deposits and other 

receivable. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any 

of other categories. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently remeasured at fair value, with any 

resultant gain or loss directly recognised as a separate component of equity under other comprehensive income until 

the investment is sold, collected, or the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain 

or loss previously reported in equity is included in the consolidated statement of income for that year. Profit earned 

on the investments is reported as profit income using the effective profit rate. Dividends earned on investments are 

recognised in the consolidated statement of income as “Dividend income from Available-for-sale financial assets” 

when the right to receive dividend has been established. All regular way purchases and sales of investment are 

recognised on the trade date when the Group becomes or commit to be a party to contractual provisions of the 

instrument.  

 

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 

quoted market bid prices at the close of business at the end of the reporting period.   
 

The Group assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of impairment of available-for-sale financial 

assets. In case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant 

or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its original cost. The determination of what is 

‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent 

which the fair value of an investment in less than its cost. 

 

When there is an evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 

cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income. Impairment losses on equity investments are treated as direct write-offs. Reversals of any 

impairment losses on equity investments are treated as increase in fair value through the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity. 

 

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost and its current 

fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income, is transferred 

from equity to the consolidated statement of income. Impairment losses on equity instruments recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income are not subsequently reversed. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments 

are reversed through the consolidated statement of income; if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be 

objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss.  

 

When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Financial assets (continued) 
 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

 

 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 

 The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

 received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either 

 (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither 

 transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset 
 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 

transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, 

the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that 

case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured 

on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained. 

 

Financial liabilities 

 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives 

designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and Sukuk and Islamic financing 

borrowings  and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

The Group’s financial liabilities include contractor and supplier payables, Islamic finance borrowings, due to a 

related party, derivative financial liabilities, retention payable, tenants deposits, provision for social and sports 

activities fund, accrued expenses and other payables. 

 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depend on their classification, as described below: 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 

The Group initially recognises financial liabilities on the date that they are originated which is the date that the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial 

liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective profit method. Other 

financial liabilities are mentioned above. 

 

Accounts payable and other liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for services received or when the risks and rewards 

associated with goods are transferred to the Group, whether billed by the supplier or not. Trade payables are initially 

recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective profit method.  

 

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  are recognized initially at fair value of the consideration received, less 

directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, those obligations are measured at amortized 

cost using the effective cost method.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial instruments (continued)  

 
Financial liabilities (continued) 

 

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  (continued) 

Gains or losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities are derecognized as well 

as through the amortization process. Finance cost and other related charges are recognized as an expense when 

incurred. 

 

Fees paid on the establishment of Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  are recognised as transaction costs of 

the financing to the extent that it is probable some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 

deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the 

facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period 

of the facility to which it relates. 

 

Instalments due within one year are shown as a current liability. Instalments due after 1 year are shown as non-

current liability.  

 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or 

the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 

derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 

amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 

financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 

intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

 

Income and expense are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising 

from a group of similar transactions. 
 

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting 
 

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

The Group has entered into derivative financial instruments in the form of profit rate swaps to manage the profit 

rate risk arising from certain Islamic finance borrowings. The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s 

policies approved by the board of directors as detailed in the financial risk management disclosure in these 

consolidated financial statements. 
 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 

re-measured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of consolidated income immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 

instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 

relationship.  
 

The profit rate swap arrangements are designated as hedging instruments, being hedges of a change in future cash 

flows as a result of profit rate movements.  The fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-current asset 

or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hedging relationship is more than twelve months and as a 

current asset or a current liability if the remaining maturity of the hedge relationship is less than twelve months. 
 

Cash flow hedge 

To the extent that the Group’s cash flow hedges are effective, gains and losses on the fair value of the profit rate 

swaps arrangements are deferred in equity in the hedging reserve until realised. On realisation, such gains and losses 

are recognised within finance costs in the consolidated statement of income.  
 

To the extent that any hedge is ineffective, gains and losses on the fair value of these profit rate swap arrangements 

are recognised immediately in finance charges in the statement of consolidated income. Amounts deferred in equity 

are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in the consolidated statement of 

income.  
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial instruments (continued)  

 
Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting (continued) 
 

Cash flow hedge (continued) 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires, 

is sold or terminated or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss deferred 

in equity remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain 

or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Impairment 
 

Financial assets  

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 

impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have 

had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. All impairment losses are recognized in the 

consolidated statement of income.  
 

a) For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value, less any impairment 

loss previously recognized in the consolidated statement of income; 

b) For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between carrying value and the present value of future 

cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset; 

c) For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the difference between carrying amount and the present 

value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective finance cost rate. 

d) Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. The remaining financial assets 

are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 

loss was recognized. For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the reversal is recognized in the consolidated 

statement of income.  

 

Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated.  The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its 

value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the 

smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 

inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-generating unit”).  

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 

recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  

 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognized as a deduction from equity. 

 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are finance cost and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

A qualifying asset for finance cost capitalization is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 

ready for its intended use or sale. The Group capitalizes borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. The Group recognizes 

other borrowing costs as an expense in the period in which it incurs them. 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Borrowing costs (continued) 

The Group begins capitalizing borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset on the commencement date. 

The commencement date for capitalization is the date when the Group first meets all of the following conditions:  

 

(a) incurs expenditures for the asset;  

(b) incurs borrowing costs; and  

(c) undertakes activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. 

 

To the extent that the Group borrows funds specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the Group 

determines the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that 

borrowing during the period less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings, if any.  

 

The borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the period, other than 

those specific borrowings mentioned above as made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualified asset, are 

capitalized by applying a capitalization rate to the expenditures on that asset. 

 

The amount of borrowing costs that the Group capitalizes during the period is not to exceed the amount of borrowing 

costs it incurred during that period. The Group suspends capitalization of borrowing costs during extended periods 

in which it suspends active development of a qualifying asset, and ceases capitalizing borrowing costs when 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating a provision is presented in the 

statement of consolidated income net of any reimbursement. 

 

Tenants deposits 

Tenants deposits liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost where 

material. Any difference between the initial fair value and the nominal amount is included as a component of 

operating lease income and recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 

Leases 

Lease payments 

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 

finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 

and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for 

in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 

operating leases, and are not recognized in the Group’s consolidated financial position.  

 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, 

over the term of the lease.  

 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction 

of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of finance cost on the remaining balance of the liability. Contingent lease payments are 

accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease when the lease 

adjustment is confirmed. 

 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. This will 

be the case if the following two criteria are met: 

 

 The fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and 

 The arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s). 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Leases (continued) 

 

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (continued) 

At inception or on reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration required 

by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. 

If the Group concludes for a finance lease that is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and 

a liability are recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is 

reduced as payments made and an imputed finance cost on the liability is recognized using the Group’s incremental 

borrowing rate. 

 

Employees’ end of service benefits 

The Group provides end of service benefits to its expatriate employees in accordance with Qatari Labor Law. The 

entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the 

completion of minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 

employment. 

 

With respect to its Qatari employees, the Group provides contributions to the General Pension and Social Insurance 

Authority calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these 

contributions, which are expensed when due. 

 

Earnings per share 

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 

by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable 

to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all 

dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees, if any. 

 

Segment reporting 

Segment results that are reported to the Chief Executive Officer include items directly attributable to a segment as 

well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  

 

Dividend 

The Group recognizes a liability to make cash distributions to equity shareholders of the Parent when distribution 

is authorized and the distribution in no longer at the discretion of the company. As per the Qatar Commercial Law 

No 11 of 2015, a distribution is authorized when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is 

recognized directly in equity. 

 

Foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the consolidated 

statement of financial position date. All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of income.  

 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss 

arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain 

or loss on the change in fair value of the item. 

 

Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities based on current/non-current classification. An asset as current when it is:  

 

 Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 

 Held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or, 

 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

 twelve months after the reporting period 
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Current versus non-current classification (continued) 

All other assets are classified as non-current. A liability is current when: 

 

 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 

 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 

 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or, 

 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the 

 reporting period 

 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

 

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed unless the 

possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. 

 

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of 

economic benefits is probable. 

 

Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, available for sale financial assets and non- financial 

assets such as investment properties and investment properties held for sale, at fair value at each reporting date. Fair 

value related disclosures for financial instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value are 

disclosed in these consolidated financial statements in Note 33. 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 

the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

 

 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group. 

 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 

would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 

available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs.  

 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 

categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant 

to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

 

 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value         

 measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 

 Level 3 —  Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

 measurement is unobservable. 

 

For assets that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines 

whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 

level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 

assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of 

current events and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed regularly. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 

and future periods if the revision affects both current and future. 

 

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared 

existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes 

or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 

occur. The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 

date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year, are described below. 

 

Classification of property 

The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment property or trading property: 

 

 Investment property comprises land and buildings (principally residential, commercial and retail property) 

 which are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary 

 course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. 

 

 Trading property comprises property that is held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Principally, this is 

 residential property that the Group develops and intends to sell before or on completion of construction. 

 

 Investment properties held for sale comprises the investment properties held exclusively with a view to its 

 subsequent disposal within one year time from the date of acquisition or classification. 

 

Impairment of tenants  receivable 

An estimate of the collectible amount of tenants receivable and due from related parties are made when collection 

of the full amount is no longer probable. For individually significant amounts, this estimation is performed on an 

individual basis.  Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are past due, are assessed collectively 

and an allowance is applied according to the length of time past due. 

 

At the reporting date, the gross amount of tenants receivable and due from related parties were QR 152,114 thousand 

and QR 34,683 thousand respectively (31 December 2016: QR 121,592 thousand and QR 9,627 thousand 

respectively), and an allowance for impairment of tenants receivable amounted QR 94,514 thousand (31 December 

2016: QR 96,699  thousand). Any difference between the amounts actually collected in future periods and the 

amounts expected will be recognised in the consolidated statement of  income. 
 

Impairment of inventories 

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an 

estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed on 

an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed 

collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based 

on anticipated selling prices. 
 

At the reporting date, inventories were QR 26,948 thousand  (31 December 2016: QR 19,208 thousand) with a 

provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories amounting to QR 4,683 thousand (31 December 2016: Nil). 

Any difference between the amounts actually realised in future periods and the amounts expected will be recognised 

in the consolidated statement of income. 
 

Valuation of properties  

The fair value of investment properties are determined by independent real estate valuation experts using recognized 

valuation techniques. The valuation techniques used in carrying out the valuation exercise comprise the Comparable 

methods of valuation. 
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4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 (CONTINUED)  
 

Valuation of properties (continued)  

 Techniques used for valuing investment properties 

The investment method is generally adopted for income producing assets where an actual, notional or potential 

market rent can be identified. Having calculated the gross income and made appropriate cost deductions, a market 

investment return or “yield” is applied in capitalising the cash flow assumptions to arrive at a capital value.  
 

The Comparable method of valuation has primarily been adopted for the plots of land, considering the fact that 

transactional data is limited due to the financial climate and as such comparable evidence of available land 

transactions is examined , in addition to internal and third party valuations. Adjustments were made to rates as 

appropriate to reflect property/community specific factors. 
 

Useful lives of property and equipment 

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for calculating 

depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset, physical wear and tear, 

technical or commercial obsolescence. 

 

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets 

The Group treats available-for-sale financial assets as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged 

decline in fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of 

what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgment. The Group treats “significant” generally as 

30% or more, or ‘prolonged’ greater than nine (9) months. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including 

normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted 

equities, if any. 

 

Impairment of investment in associates and joint ventures 

The Group assess at each reporting date whether there is an objective evidence indicating that an impairment loss 

should be recorded for its investments in associates and joint ventures. The Group compares the carrying value of 

the investment with the recoverable value as indicated in applicable IFRS. 

At the report date the Group has realised an impairment loss amounting to QR 162,194 thousand (31 December 

2016: Nil) 

 

Fair value of financial instruments  
When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial 

position cannot be derived from active markets, their fair value is determined using valuation techniques including 

discounted cash flow method. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but 

where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include 

considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors 

could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. Information’s are disclosed in Note 33. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each reporting 

date. All non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not 

be recoverable. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash 

flows from the asset and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  

 

Operating lease commitment – group as a lessor 

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The Group has 

determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not 

constituting a major part of the economic lives of the commercial properties and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains all the 

significant risk and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for such contracts as operating leases. 
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5 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES  

 

In accordance with the Extra Ordinary General Assembly meetings held on 20 November 2013 and 13 August 2017, 

the shareholders of the Group approved the purchase of the share of SAK Holdings Group W.L.L. in the 

development of investment property (“the Project”) at a value of QR 6,087,384 thousand. The development is 

carried out by a subsidiary of the Group, Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L.  

 

The Group appointed a valuation expert to assess the value of the Project and entered into a settlement agreement 

with SAK Holdings Group W.L.L. As part of the agreement, the Group partially settled in 2 October 2017 the 

purchase consideration by cash amounting to QR 3,064,117 thousand and in kind in the form of subsidiaries 

companies having an estimated value of QR 2,805,926 thousand. The valuation of these subsidiaries was carried 

out by an independent valuation expert appointed by the Group’s management. 

 

The net assets, purchase price, and loss on disposal of these subsidiaries were as follows: 

 

 Assets  Liabilities  Net assets  Selling price  Gain/(loss) 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

Name of the Company          

          

Ethmar for Trading and Construction 

Co. W.L.L.  1,016,334   (10,094)  1,006,240   1,016,221    9,981  

Al Manara for Medical Equipment Co. 

W.L.L. 269,257  -  269,257   181,777  

 

(87,480) 

Al Etkan Trading Co. W.L.L.  791,230   (3,490)  787,740   877,547   89,807  

Al Kara Trading Co. W.L.L.  521,848   -  521,848   453,156    (68,692) 

Amaken for Electronic W.L.L.  120,561   (459)  120,102   130,741    10,639  

Gulf Imtiaz for Trading W.L.L.  37,038   (19)  37,019   40,300    3,281  

High Trade for Trading W.L.L  97,635   (20)  97,615   106,184    8,569  

          

 2,853,903  (14,082)  2,839,821  2,805,926  (33,895) 

 

The disposal was not treated as discontinued operations as it doesn’t represents a separate line of business or 

geographical area of operations. The above subsidiaries did not constitute a business, as they were for the purpose 

of investing activities only. 

 

 

6 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  

 

The Group lost control over the financing and operational decisions of Dar Al Arab W.L.L. as a result of the disposal 

of the subsidiaries as mentioned in Note 5, since the Group invested indirectly in Dar Al Arab through these 

subsidiaries. 

 

Dar Al-Arab W.L.L. was incorporated in the State of Qatar as a Limited Liability Company under Commercial 

Registration Number 27324 on 3 September 2004. The registered office of the Company is located at P.O. Box 

22612, Doha, State of Qatar. The main activities of Dar Al-Arab W.L.L. include the publication of Al Arab 

newspaper. 

 

Dar Al Arab W.L.L. has been classified as discontinued operations and no longer presented in the segment note. 
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6 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS  (CONTINUED) 

 

The results of Dar Al Arab W.L.L. is as follows: 

 

 2 October 

2017 

 31 December 

2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Revenue 23,985  27,816 

Cost of sale (24,226)  (34,471) 

    

 (241)  (6,655) 

    

Other income 164  311 

Share of results of associates 1,336  3,394 

General and Administrative expense  (4,808)  (6,461) 

    

Loss for the period/year (3,549)  (9,411) 

 

 

Net cash flows  

 
2 October 

2017 

 31 December 

2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Operating activities 1,243  (20,821) 

Investing activities 2,479  (105) 

Financing activities (924)  12,148 

    

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 2,798  (8,778) 

 

 

In prior year the Group obtained control over Dar Al Arab, and in compliance with the provisions of International 

Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Business Combinations”, the Group has carried out one time “Purchase Price 

Allocation” (PPA) exercise for the value of the acquisition of Dar Al Arab W.L.L. PPA identifies the values paid 

for the tangible assets, intangible assets and the goodwill arising on the acquisition.  

 

The total goodwill arising from the acquisition of Dar Al Arab W.L.L., amounting to QR 141,170 thousand, and 

intangibles amounting to 94,755   is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 

2016. 

 

The gain on re-measuring the existing interest previously held before the date of acquisition to fair value of QR 

41,241 thousand is included in the Group’s consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2016. 
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7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Cash on hand 548  1,354 

    

Cash at banks     

Term deposits  200,000  10,054 

Saving and call accounts 155,416  374,894 

Current accounts 10,586  36,770 

Margin accounts 4,570  3,105 

    

Total cash and bank balances 371,120  426,177 

    

Less: restricted bank balances (4,570)  (3,105) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents 366,550  423,072 

 

 

8 RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Net tenant receivables 57,600  24,893 

Advances to suppliers and contractors (Note i) 66,951  183,806 

Prepaid expenses 97,701  89,215 

Refundable deposits 18,617  18,555 

Due from related parties (Note 10) 34,683  9,627 

Derivative financial assets (Note 29) 23,167  5,970 

Accrued income 1,541  499 

Notes receivable -  378 

Net other receivables and debit balances 7,053  20,638 

    

 307,313  353,581 

 

Note i: 

Due from related party balances included in advances to suppliers and contractors are disclosed in Note 10. 

 

Receivables and prepayments are segregated between current and non-current as follows: 

 

  

Current 

 Non-

current 

  

Total 

31 December 2017 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
      

Net tenants receivable 57,600  -  57,600 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 66,951  -  66,951 

Prepaid expenses -  97,701  97,701 

Refundable deposits -  18,617  18,617 

Due from related parties  34,683  -  34,683 

Derivative financial assets 23,168  -  23,168 

Accrued income 1,541  -  1,541 

Net other receivables and debit balances 7,052  -  7,052 

      

 190,995  116,318  307,313 
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8 RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

  

Current 

 Non-

current 

  

Total 

31 December 2016 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

      

Net tenants receivable 24,893  -  24,893 

Advances to suppliers and contractors 183,806  -  183,806 

Prepaid expenses 89,215  -  89,215 

Refundable deposits -  18,555  18,555 

Due from related parties  9,627  -  9,627 

Derivative financial assets 5,970  -  5,970 

Accrued income 499  -  499 

Notes receivable 378  -  378 

Net other receivables and debit balances 20,638  -  20,638 

      

 335,026  18,555  353,581 

 

Movements in the allowance for impairment of tenants receivable and other receivable were as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

At 1 January 103,169  65,534 

Allowance for impairment of receivables 6,248  32,066 

Allowance for impairment of other receivables -  5,486 

Reversal of allowance for impairment of receivables  (9,391)  - 

Additional allowance from acquisition of subsidiary -  983 

Write-off (347)  (900) 

    

Net movement in allowance for impairment of receivables  (3,490)  37,635 

    

At 31 December 99,679  103,169 

 

Unimpaired tenants receivable, due from related parties, refundable deposits and other receivables and debit 

balances are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable. The Group’s practice is not to obtain 

collaterals over receivables and the vast majority of receivables are unsecured accordingly. 

 

The ageing of unimpaired financial assets as at 31 December is as follows: 

 

  Neither past 

due nor 

impaired 

QR’000 

Past due but not impaired 

 

Total 

QR’000 

< 30 days 

QR’000 

31 – 60 

days 

QR’000 

61 – 90 

days 

QR’000 

>90 days 

QR’000 

       

2017 117,952 4,498 16,008 53,791 5,580 38,075 

2016 73,713 6,790 10,799 22,120 4,292 29,712 
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9 INVENTORIES 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Consumables 9,982  10,717 

Buildings and maintenance materials 16,966  8,491 

    

 26,948  19,208 

    

Less: Provision for slow moving inventories (4,683)  - 

    

 22,265  19,208 

 

The movement in the provision for obsolete and slow moving inventories is as follows: 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

At 1 January -  - 

Charge for the year 4,683  - 

    

 4,683  - 

 

 

10 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 

 

Related parties represent the Parent of the Group, the major shareholders, associated companies, joint ventures, 

directors and key management personnel of the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly 

influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s Board of 

Directors. 

 

Related party balances 

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows; 

 

Due from related parties 

   2017  2016 

 Relationship  QR’000  QR’000 

      

The Curve Hotel Company W.L.L. Other related party  22,380  8,909 

Dar Al Arab W.L.L.  Other related party  12,012  - 

White Square Real Estate Company W.L.L. Joint venture  275  65 

Other related parties   16  653 

      

   34,683  9,627 

 

Due from related party balances are current. 
 

Due to related parties  

   2017  2016 

 Relationship  QR’000  QR’000 

        

SAK Holding Group W.L.L.* Other related party  1,558,880  1,479,631 

Haloul for Real Estate Investment W.L.L. Other related party  -  30,979 

Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing and 

Distribution W.L.L. Associate 
 

- 
 

16,651 

Al Waraq for Printing Press W.L.L. Joint venture  -  10,625 

      

   1,558,880  1,537,886 

 

* This amount represents the remaining balance due to SAK Holding Group W.L.L. in relation to the settlement 

agreement with the Group and the balance is non-current 
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10 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS  (CONTINUED) 

 
Due to related parties (continued) 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

The maturity of due to related parties as follows:    

Non-current  1,558,880  1,510,610 

Current  -  27,276 

     

  1,558,880  1,537,886 

 

Balances due to related parties included in Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  and payables and other 

liabilities and receivables and prepayments are as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Islamic financing borrowings  from an associate bank 2,880,900  2,894,458 

    

Contractors and suppliers  -  633,780 

    

Retention payable  -  289,091 

    

Advances to suppliers and contractors 2,799  79,410 

 

Related party transactions  

Transactions with related parties during the year are as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Construction of investment properties (Note i) 65,154  1,542,151 

    

Finance costs capitalized to properties under development 7,564  7,187 

    

Finance costs charged to the consolidated statement of income 107,375  100,699 

    

Rental income 5,789  7,261 

 

Note i 

The Group entered into several construction contracts with SAK Trading and Contracting Company W.L.L. to 

construct investment properties owned by a subsidiary of the Group. The Group has contractual commitments 

amounting to QR Nil thousand (2016: QR 306,443 thousand) to SAK Trading and Contracting Company W.L.L. 

in relation to these construction contracts at 31 December 2017 (Note 31). 

 

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 

Except for islamic financing borrowings  from an associate bank which are secured against mortgages on different 

types of investment properties owned by the Group and carries finance cost, outstanding balances of related parties 

at the year-end are unsecured and free of finance cost, in addition there have been no guarantees provided or received 

for any other due from or due to related parties’ balances. 

 

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group has not recorded any impairment relating to amounts 

due from related parties. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through examining the financial position 

of the related parties and the market in which the related parties operate. 
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10 RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS  (CONTINUED) 

 

 Compensation of directors and other key management personnel 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Board of Directors’ remuneration (*) (Note 25) -  12,983 

Total key management and executive committee benefits  41,777  41,582 

    

 41,777  54,565 

 

*  According to article 119 of Qatari Commercial Law No 11 of 2015, the Group has provided QR Nil (2016: QR 

12,983 thousand) as Board of Directors’ remuneration . 

 

11 AVAILABLE- FOR- SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS  

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Quoted shares (Note i) 2,367,648  4,050,440 

Unquoted shares (Note ii) 103,305  - 

Funds (Note iii) -  2,502,867 

    

 2,470,953  6,553,307 

 

Movements in cumulative changes in fair values arising from available for sale financial assets owned by the Group 

are as follows:  

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Balance at 1 January 319,263  602,495 

Net loss on available for sale financial assets (Note 21) (326,785)  (283,232) 

    

 (7,522)  319,263 

 

Concentration of investment portfolio  

Concentration of investment portfolio arises when a number of investments are made in entities engaged in similar 

business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would be 

affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Group manages this risk through diversification 

of investments in terms of industry and geographical concentration. The industry and geographical concentration 

of the investment portfolio is as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

Listed shares  located in State of Qatar     

    

Banks and financial institutions  2,267,344  3,970,379 

Consumer goods and services 35,009  2,173 

Industries 26,013  26,008 

Transportation 22,972  20,975 

Telecommunication 7,595  25,260 

Real estate 5,091  - 

Insurance 3,624  5,645 

    

 2,367,648  4,050,440 

    

 Funds  -  2,502,867 

 



Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2017  

37 

 

 

11 AVAILABLE- FOR- SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS  (CONTINUED) 

 

Notes: 

 

(i) All of listed shares of the Group are local shares listed at Qatar Exchange. 

 

(ii) Unquoted shares represents the Group remaining  investments in Dar Al Arab W.L.L. (Note 6) and Dar 

Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing and Distribution W.L.L. (Note 13) 

 

(iii) During the period the Group through its subsidiaries sold units held in Funds located in the Cayman 

 Islands. 

 

(iv) The mortgages on available for sale financial assets are disclosed in Note 16. 

 

 

12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

The Movement in the investment properties during the year is as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

At 1 January 38,919,798  36,898,969 

Development costs during the year 360,110  1,853,213 

Purchase of completed investment properties (Note ii) 4,657,866  151,306 

Capitalized finance costs on properties under development (Note 26) (Note iii) 49,543  44,483 

Gain (loss) on revaluation of investment properties 427,748  (28,173) 

Addition of a land as a compensation from government (Note v) 171,971  - 

Transfer to property and equipment (Note vi) (779,524)  - 

Foreign exchange adjustment 12,273  - 

    

At 31 December 43,819,785  38,919,798 

 

Investment properties consists of: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Completed properties 37,587,135  26,401,981 

Projects under development  3,535,133  9,801,707 

Vacant lands 2,697,517  2,716,110 

    

 43,819,785  38,919,798 

 

Notes: 

 

(i) Investment properties are located in the State of Qatar, and the United Kingdom. 

 

(ii) With reference to Note 5, the amount represents the Group’s purchase of SAK Holding Group share’s 

 completed investment properties. 

 

(iii) Capitalized finance cost is computed based on the average qualifying expenditures related to the projects 

 under developments. Finance cost is capitalized using the Group’s weighted average capitalization rate of  

 4.6%  (2016: 4.19%). 

 

(iv) The mortgages on the investment properties are disclosed in Note 16.  

 

(v) Previously the government claimed a land from the Group as a part of urban development, and in return a       

 land located in Al Wukair was provided as a compensation during the year. 
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12 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINIED) 

 

(vi) During the year, the Group transferred an investment property under development to property and equipment 

as it represent a Hotel that will be operating during next year. The transfer was made at the carrying value 

on the date of the transfer. 

 

(vii) Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on valuation performed by 

 accredited independent valuer as at 31 December 2017 and 2016. The valuer, is an accredited independent 

 valuer with a recognised and relevant professional qualifications and with recent experience in the location 

 and category of those investment properties being valued. In arriving at estimated market values the valuers 

 have used their market knowledge and professional judgment and not only relied on historical transactions 

 comparable. The valuation has been prepared in accordance with the appropriate sections of the Practice 

 Statements (“PS”), contained with the RICS Valuation- Professional Standards 2015 (the “Red Book”). 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Rental income derived from investment properties 1,487,555  1,605,044 

Direct operating expenses generating rental income (317,946)  (312,471) 

    

Profit arising from investment properties carried at fair value 1,169,609  1,292,573 

 

Description of valuation techniques used by the Group and key inputs to valuation of the investment properties are 

as follows: 

 

Type of 

properties 

Valuation 

technique 

Significant unobservable 

Inputs 

Range 

(weighted 

average) 

Residential properties 

Investment 

method Estimated rental value per sqm per month QR 40 to QR 901 

  Rent growth per annum 3.7% 

  Discount rate 7.5% to 8.1% 

    

Commercial 

properties 

Investment 

method Estimated rental value per sqm per month QR 60 to QR 480 

  Rent growth per annum 3.7% 

  Discount rate 7.5% to 8.1% 

    

Bear lands 

Comparable 

method Estimated land value per sqm 

QR 2,052 to 

QR 13,300 

 

Investment Method 
The Investment method is generally adopted for income-producing assets where an actual, notional or potential 

market rent can be identified. Having calculated the gross income and made appropriate cost deductions, a market 

investment return or “yield” is applied in capitalising the cash flow assumptions to arrive at a capital value. In 

valuing the income producing properties the Group has utilised market evidence to establish market rents and market 

facing capitalisation rates.  

 

Comparable method 

The Comparable method of valuation has primarily been adopted for the plots of land.  It should be noted that 

transactional data is limited due to the financial climate and as such we have looked at comparable evidence of 

available land transactions in addition to internal and third party valuations. Adjustments were made to rates as 

appropriate to reflect property/community specific factors. 

  



Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2017  

39 

 

 

13 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND  JOINT VENTURES 

 

The group has following investment in associates and joint ventures:  
Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership 

interest 
  2017 2016 2017  2016  

 % % QR’000  QR’000 

       

Qatar International Islamic Bank Q.S.C. (i) Qatar 10.00% 20.00% 926,377  1,910,973 

Medicare Group Q.S.C. (ii) Qatar 12.50% 13.25% 246,097  266,859 

White Square Real Estate W.L.L. (iii) Qatar 32.50% 32.50% 185,013  185,663 

Qatar Islamic Insurance Company Q.S.C.  

(iv) Qatar 7.33% 10.00% 68,420  114,464 

Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing, and 

Distribution W.L.L. (v) Qatar - 44.78% -  536,684 

Islamic Holding Group Q.S.C. (vi) Qatar - 21.55% -  75,740 

Widam for Food Company Q.S.C. (vii) Qatar - 3.01% -  35,849 

Al Waraq for Printing Press W.L.L.  (viii) Qatar - 51.00% -  152,808 

       

    1,425,907  3,279,040 

 

Notes: 
 

(i) Qatar International Islamic Bank Q.S.C. (QIIB) 

 Qatar International Islamic Bank (Q.S.C) (“QIIB” or “the Bank”) was incorporated under Amiri Decree 

 No.52 of 1990. The Bank operates through its head office located on Grand Hamad Street in Doha and 20 

 local branches. The Bank is listed and its shares are traded on the Qatar Exchange. The Bank is engaged in 

 banking, financing and investing activities in accordance with its Articles of Incorporation, Islamic Shari’a 

 rules and principles as determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank and regulations of Qatar 

 Central Bank (QCB). The Group has the ability to exercise significant influence through its nominated  

members in  board of directors of QISI, hence the equity method  has been applied. 
 

(ii) Medicare Group Q.S.C. (MCGS) 

 Medicare Group Q.S.C, formerly known as Al Ahli Specialised Hospital Company Q.S.C., is a Qatari 

 Public Shareholding Company incorporated on 30 December 1996 under Commercial Registration  Number 

18895. The Company’s registered office located at  P.O. Box 6401, Doha, State of Qatar. The Company’s 

main activity is to operate a specialised hospital and promote medical services in State of Qatar.  Although 

the Group holds less than 20% of the ownership interest and voting rights of MCGS. The Group has the 

ability to exercise significant influence through its nominated  members in  board of directors of QISI, hence 

the equity method  has been applied. 

 

(iii) White Square Real Estate W.L.L.(White Square) 

 White Square Real Estate Company W.L.L. (the “Company”) is a Limited Liability Company registered 

 and incorporated in the State of Qatar under the Commercial Registration No. 51302. The Company is 

 structured as a joint venture company between Ezdan Holding Group Company Q.S.C. and Mr. Ibrahim 

Rashid Al-Mohannadi for the purpose of constructing and management of an investment property. The 

Company is principally engaged in real estate trading, development and rental activities. 
 

(iv) Qatar Islamic Insurance Company Q.S.C. (QISI) 

 Qatar Islamic Insurance Company Q.S.C. was incorporated in the State of Qatar as a Closed Shareholding 

 Company on 30 October 1993. On 12 December 1999 the Company changed its status to a public listed 

 Company. The Company is engaged in business of underwriting general, Takaful (life) and health non-

 interest insurance in accordance with the Islamic Shari’a principles. Although the Group holds less than 20% 

of the ownership interest and voting rights of QISI. The Group has the ability to exercise significant influence 

through its nominated members in  board of directors of QISI, hence the equity method  has been applied. 
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13 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND  JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 

 

Notes:  

 

(v) Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing and Distribution W.L.L.(Dar Al Sharq) 

 Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing and Distribution W.L.L. was incorporated in the State of Qatar as a 

 Limited Liability Company on 24 October 1985. The main activities of Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing 

and Distribution Company W.L.L. is the publication of two daily newspapers, Al Sharq newspaper (Arabic 

 Language) and Peninsula Newspaper (English Language) and the operation of a printing press. With 

reference to Note 5 the Group has lost its significant influence over Dar Al Sharq as a result of the disposal 

of its subsidiaries. The Group  has an ownership of 6% and it was treated as available for sale financial assets 

as at 31 December 2017. 
 

(vi) Islamic Holding Group Q.S.C. (IHGS) 

 Islamic Holding Group Q.S.C. was established as a Qatari Private Shareholding Company and registered 

 under the Commercial Registration No. 26337 and was converted in to Public Shareholding Company 

 during 2006. The principal activities of Islamic Holding Group Q.S.C. are investing in shares, bonds and 

 brokerage services in Qatar Exchange according to the Islamic Shari’a. With reference to Note 5 the Group 

has lost its significant influence over IHGS as a result of the disposal of its subsidiaries. The Group  has an 

ownership of 16.4% and it was treated as available for sale financial assets as at 31 December 2017. 

 

(vii) Widam for Food Company Q.S.C. (Widam) 

Widam Food Company Q.S.C. was established as a Qatari Shareholding Company in accordance with 

resolution no. 75 in 2003 issued by the minister of Economy and Finance. Widam Food Company Q.S.C. is 

registered in Qatar under Commercial Registration Number 26911. The registered office of the Company is 

located at P.O. Box 22240, Doha, State of Qatar. The principle activities of Widam Food Company Q.S.C. 

include import and trade of livestock, meat and feeds, in addition slaughter of sheep and cattle and supplying 

the local market with fresh meat and related products. With reference to Note 5 the Group has lost its 

significant influence over Widam as a result of the disposal of its subsidiaries. The Group  has an ownership 

of 2.9% and it was treated as available for sale financial assets as at 31 December 2017.  
 

Last year the Group recognised a gain of QR 37,371 thousand as a result of re-measuring fair value of its 

existing interest before gaining the significance influence. The gain represents Fair value reserves of 

available-for-sale financial assets at date of acquisition. The gain is included in “Gain on acquisition of an 

associate” in the Group’s consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December  2016. 
 

(viii)  Al Waraq for Printing Press W.L.L. (Al Waraq) 

          Al Waraq for Printing Press W.L.L. (the “Company”) was established as a Limited Liability Company 

registered and incorporated in the state of Qatar under the Commercial Registration No. 52822. The Company 

is incorporated a  joint venture between Dar Al Arab W.L.L. and Dar Al-Sharq for Printing, Publishing and 

Distribution W.L.L. With reference to Note 5 the Group has fully disposed of its investment over Al Waraq, 

as a result of  disposal of the subsidiaries.  
   

Reconciliation of the summarized financial information presented to the carrying amount of its interests in associates 

and joint ventures is as follows: 
 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Balance at 1 January 3,279,040  3,202,656 

Dividends received  (109,624)  (205,633) 

Share of results  141,354  189,804 

Share of results from associate in discontinued operation  -  3,394 

Disposals during the year (1,555,636)  (376,389) 

Share of net movement in other comprehensive (loss) income (Note 21) (2,667)  986 

Impairment loss of investment in associates (162,194)  - 

Transfer to available for sale financial assets (164,366)  - 

Additions during the year -  492,866 

Transfer to subsidiary -  (28,644) 

    

Balance at 31 December  1,425,907  3,279,040 
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13 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND  JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 

 

Set out below are the summarized financial information for investments in associates and  joint ventures which are accounted for using equity method 

 

Summarized Statement of financial position: 

 

 2017 

 

 

QIIB 
 

 

MCGS 
 

 

QISI 
 

White 

 Square 
 Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

          

Total assets 46,505,519  1,017,968  881,206  1,024,141  49,428,834 

Total liabilities (40,289,541)  (189,193)  (522,691)  (454,870)  (41,456,295) 

          

Equity 6,215,978  828,775  358,515  569,271  7,972,539 

          

Group’s interest  621,598  103,597  26,291  185,013  936,499 

Goodwill 304,779  142,500  42,129  -  489,408 

          

Carrying value of investment 926,377  246,097  68,420  185,013  1,425,907 

 
 

   2016 

 

 

QIIB 
 

 

MCGS 
 

 

QISI 
 

Dar  

Al Sharq 
 

White 

 Square 
 IHGS  Widam  Al Waraq  Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

                  

Total assets 42,822,456  1,063,102  822,769  563,762  1,005,538  368,697  520,853  287,925  47,455,102 

Total liabilities (36,851,013)  (189,065)  (478,200)  (70,411)  (434,269)  (225,935)  (170,585)  (22,890)  (38,442,368) 

                  

Equity 5,971,443  874,037  344,569  493,351  571,269  142,762  350,268  265,035  9,012,734 

                  

Group’s interest  1,194,289  115,810  34,457  220,923  185,663  30,761  10,537  135,168  1,927,608 

Goodwill 716,684  151,049  80,007  315,761  -  44,979  25,312  17,640  1,351,432 

                  

Carrying value of investment 1,910,973  266,859  114,464  536,684  185,663  75,740  35,849  152,808  3,279,040 
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13 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND  JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 
 

Share of associates  and joint ventures summarized income statement and statement of comprehensive income. 

 

 2017 

 
 

QIIB 

  

MCGS 

  

QISI  

Dar  

Al Sharq 

 White 

Square 

  

IHGS 

 
Widam 

  

Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

                

Revenue and gains 2,149,578  351,246  111,898  46,489  35,948  6,727  917,140  3,619,026 

                

Profit (loss) for the year 882,209  48,038  66,446  14,553  (1,999)  1,530  80,146  1,090,923 

                

Total comprehensive income (loss) 345  (1,198)  -  (1,669)  -  (104)  (41)  (2,667) 

                

Group’s share of results for the year 120,279  6,277  6,210  6,517  (650)  310  2,411  141,354 

                

Dividends 90,071  11,187  5,250  -  -  1,220  1,896  109,624 

 

Note:  

The Group ownership in the above associates changed during the year as result of the disposal of the subsidiaries (Note 5). 

 

 2016 

 

 

QIIB 

  

MCGS 

  

QISI  

Dar  

Al Sharq 

 White 

Square 

  

IHGS 

 
Widam 

 Al 

Waraq 

 Dar  

Al Arab 

  

Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

                    

Revenue and gains 1,770,644  482,297  104,275  246,407  -  17,602  792,226  66,749  2,721  3,482,921 

                    

Profit (loss) for the year 726,690  65,960  61,920  77,135  (21,322)  4,003  69,231  7,439  (1,374)  989,682 

                    

Total comprehensive income (loss) 2,230  (245)  142  (963)  -  -  (178)  -  -  986 

                    

Group’s share of results for the year 145,338  8,740  6,182  34,201  (6,930)  863  2,083  3,394  (673)  193,198 

                    

Dividends 137,148  36,298  14,293  11,750  -  2,144  -  4,000  -  205,633 
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13 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND  JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 

 

Notes: 

 

(i) The mortgages on investments in associates are disclosed in Note 16. 

 

(ii) The Group carried out an impairment testing for the carrying value of the associates at 31 December 2017. 

 The recoverable amounts of the investment were determined based on value in use calculated using cash flows 

 projections by Group’s management covering a period of five to ten years. The Group determined that there 

 is an impairment loss amounting to QR 162,194 thousand which represents the difference between the carrying 

 amount and the recoverable amounts of these associates. 
 

Key assumptions used in value in use calculation 
  

Key assumptions 

The principal assumptions used in the projections relate to the average revenue, cost of goods sold, operating costs, 

and EBITDA. The assumptions are constructed based upon historic experience and Group’s management best estimate 

of future trends and performance and take account over the budget period of anticipated efficiency improvements. 

 

Discount rates 

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of the risks specific to each investee company. Discount rates are based 

on a weighted average cost of capital for each investee Company.  In determining appropriate discount rates for each 

investee company, regard has been given to the risk free rate, Beta, Equity risk premium and Size premium of each 

investee company. 

 

 

14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 

Buildings  

Motor 

vehicles  

Furniture,  

fixtures  

and office 

equipment  

Capital 

work in 

progress 

  

 

 

Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

Cost           

At 1 January 2017 16,775  10,363  98,260  -  125,398 

Additions -  2,340  29,458  -  31,798 

Disposals (3,923)  (1,797)  (8,675)  -  (14,395) 

Transferred from investment 

properties (Note 12)  

 

- 
 

 

- 
 

 

- 
 

779,524 

 

779,524 

          

At 31 December 2017 12,852  10,906  119,043  779,524  922,325 

          

Depreciation           

At 1 January 2017 5,353  6,250  72,039  -  83,642 

Charge for the year  643  1,818  13,135  -  15,596 

Disposals (745)  (967)  (7,614)  -  (9,326) 

          

At 31 December 2017 5,251  7,101  77,560  -  89,912 

          

Net carrying amount           

31 December 2017  7,601  3,805  41,483  779,524  832,413 
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14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

 

Buildings  

Motor 

vehicles  

Furniture,  

fixtures  

and office 

equipment  

 

 

 

Total 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

Cost         

At 1 January 2016 12,852  7,445  61,555  81,852 

Additions -  1,090  28,434  29,524 

Additions from acquisition of subsidiary 3,923  1,828  8,271  14,022 

        

At 31 December 2016 16,775  10,363  98,260  125,398 

        

Depreciation         

At 1 January 2016 3,964  3,756  51,837  59,557 

Charge for the year  844  1,754  13,134  15,732 

Depreciation relating to acquisition of subsidiary 545  740  7,068  8,353 

        

At 31 December 2016 5,353  6,250  72,039  83,642 

        

Net carrying amount         

31 December 2016 11,422  4,113  26,221  41,756 

 

 

15 PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES 

 

  2017  2016 

 QR’000 
 

QR’000 

        

Due to a related party/ due to related parties  (Note 10) 1,558,880  1,537,886 

Dividends Payables  763,030  389,160 

Tenants deposits 144,830  154,289 

Contractors and suppliers payable (Note i) 103,767  711,249 

Unearned rents 63,873  51,248 

Accrued expenses 52,899  77,382 

Provision for Social and Sports Activities Fund 42,330  45,311 

Provision for end of services benefits 39,131  39,176 

Retention payable (Note i) 31,852  298,723 

Advances from customers  2,698  2,698 

Notes payable -  2,826 

Other payables 19,141  18,223 

    

 2,822,431  3,328,171 
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15 PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Payables and accruals are segregated between current and non-current as follows: 
 

 Current  Non-current  Total 

31 December 2017 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

      

Due to related parties  -  1,558,880  1,558,880 

Contractors and suppliers payable (Note i) 103,767  -  103,767 

Dividends Payables  763,030  -  763,030 

Retention payable (Note i) -  31,852  31,852 

Tenants deposits -  144,830  144,830 

Accrued expenses 52,899  -  52,899 

Unearned rents 63,873  -  63,873 

Provision for Social and Sports Activities Fund 42,330  -  42,330 

Provision for end of services benefits -  39,131  39,131 

Advances from customers  2,698  -  2,698 

Other payables 19,141  -  19,141 

      

 1,047,738  1,774,693  2,822,431 

 

 Current  Non-current  Total 

31 December 2016 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

      

Due to related parties  27,276  1,510,610  1,537,886 

Contractors and suppliers payable (Note i) 77,469  633,780  711,249 

Dividends Payables  389,160  -  389,160 

Retention payable (Note i) -  298,723  298,723 

Tenants deposits -  154,289  154,289 

Accrued expenses 77,382  -  77,382 

Unearned rents 51,248  -  51,248 

Provision for Social and Sports Activities Fund 45,311  -  45,311 

Provision for end of services benefits -  39,176  39,176 

Notes payable 2,826  -  2,826 

Advances from customers  2,698  -  2,698 

Other payables 18,223  -  18,223 

      

 691,593  2,636,578  3,328,171 

 

Note i 

Due to related party balances included in retention payable and contractor and supplier payable balances are  

disclosed in Note 10. 

 

 

16 SUKUK AND ISLAMIC FINANCING BORROWINGS  

 

The movements in the Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  during the year were as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

At 1 January 15,926,929  14,959,607 

Additional facilities obtained during the year 1,992,865  3,821,699 

Finance costs (Note 26) 752,807  667,736 

Repayments of outstanding facilities during the year (2,402,140)  (3,522,113) 

    

At 31 December 16,270,461  15,926,929 
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16 SUKUK AND ISLAMIC FINANCING BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 

 

Sukuk and islamic financing borrowings  are segregated between current and non-current maturity periods as 

follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Current portion 2,795,427  2,001,203 

Non-current portion 13,475,034  13,925,726 

    

 16,270,461  15,926,929 

 

Terms and  conditions of the outstanding facilities were as follows: 

 

   2017  2016 

Type of facilities Currency Profit rates charged QR’000  QR’000 

      

Secured Murabaha  QR QMRL rate 4,661,852  5,121,466 

Secured Ijara  QR QMRL rate 3,839,774  3,996,516 

Secured Murabaha  USD 1Y/3 M LIBOR 636,923  649,314 

Secured Ijara  USD 1M /3M LIBOR 3,475,027  4,338,517 

Sukuk financing  USD 4.375%/ 4.875% 3,656,885  1,821,116 

      

   16,270,461  15,926,929 

 

Note i: 

The Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  have been obtained for the purpose of refinancing of the Group’s 

debts. All contracts carry profits at commercial rates. 

 

Note ii: 

The group obtained 2 new Islamic financing borrowing during the year as follows: 

 

Islamic Borrowing Finance 1 

During the year, as part of a Sharia’ approved programme to issue QAR 7,283,000 thousand (USD 2,000,000 

thousand) Sukuks through a special purpose entity (“Ezdan Sukuk Company Ltd”), a second tranche of QR 1,820,750 

thousand (USD 500,000 thousand) Sukuks were issued on behalf of the Group with total issuance cost of QAR 9,959 

thousand. The Sukuk were issued at an annual fixed profit rate of 4.875% paid semi-annually with a tenor of 5 years 

maturing in April 2022. The Sukuks are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and were issued on a capacity of assets’ 

backed Sukuk. The Group has undertaken to repurchase the assets at the same issuance price. 

 

Islamic Borrowing Finance 2 

During the year, the Group obtained short term Murabaha finance facility amounting to QR 182,075 thousand 

withdrawn through two tranches . The Islamic borrowings carries a commercial rate. The Group will repay both 

tranches during 2018. 

 

Note iii: 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had secured borrowings against mortgages on different types of investment 

properties owned by the Group with a carrying value of QR 15,525,486 thousand (31 December 2016: QR 15,525,486  

thousand) and mortgage against quoted shares included in the consolidated financial statements within available-for-

sale financial assets and investments in associates with carrying value of QR 600,531 thousand at 31 December  2017 

(31 December 2016: QR 1,237,419 thousand). 
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16 SUKUK AND ISLAMIC FINANCING BORROWINGS  (CONTINUED) 

 

The maturity profiles of the facilities  are as follows: 

 

  

1 year 

 2-5  

years 

 Over  

5 years 

  

Total 

31 December 2017 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

        

Secured Murabaha (QR) 784,887  2,934,385  942,580  4,661,852 

Secured Ijara (QR) 696,255  2,147,453  996,066  3,839,774 

Secured Murabaha (USD) 330,550  306,373  -  636,923 

Secured Ijara (USD) 968,351  1,701,435  805,241  3,475,027 

Sukuk financing (USD) 15,384  3,641,501  -  3,656,885 

        

 2,795,427  10,731,147  2,743,887  16,270,461 

 

  

1 year 

 2-5  

years 

 Over  

5 years 

  

Total 

31 December 2016 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

        

Secured Murabaha (QR) 578,532  2,853,594  1,689,340  5,121,466 

Secured Ijara (QR) 344,828  2,104,881  1,546,807  3,996,516 

Secured Murabaha (USD) 198,656  434,107  16,551  649,314 

Secured Ijara (USD) 878,821  2,461,173  998,523  4,338,517 

Sukuk financing (USD) 366  1,820,750  -  1,821,116 

        

 2,001,203  9,674,505  4,251,221  15,926,929 

 

 

17 SHARE CAPITAL 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Authorised, issued and fully paid up:    

2,652,496,691 shares of QR 10 each 26,524,967  26,524,967 

 

 

18 LEGAL RESERVE 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Qatar Commercial Companies Law No. 11 of 2015 and the Company’s 

Article of Association, a minimum of 10% of the net profit should be transferred to a legal reserve each year until 

this reserve is equal to 50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not available for distribution except in the 

circumstances stipulated in the above Law and the Company’s Article of Association. 
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19 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 

 

Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interest are as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

Name of subsidiaries:     

    

Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L. 32.50%  32.50% 

    

Dar Al Arab W.L.L. (Note 6) -  25.50% 

    

Ezdan World W.L.L.  30%  30% 

 

 2017  2016 

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests QR’000  QR’000 

    

Ezdan World W.L.L.  (5,770)  (4,970) 

Dar Al Arab W.L.L.  (905)  (2,400) 

Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L. (4,525)  (142) 

    

 (11,200)  (7,512) 

 

 2017  2016 

Accumulated non-controlling interests QR’000  QR’000 

    

Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L. 14,818  403,847 

Dar Al Arab W.L.L. (Note 6) -  32,596 

Ezdan World W.L.L.  (10,681)  (4,909) 
 

 

 
 

 4,137  431,534 

 

The financial information of group's subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are provided below. 

The summarised financial information below represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.   

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Total assets 2,506,469  9,034,946 

    

Total liabilities 57,708  7,792,335 

    

Equity attributable to the parent  2,444,624  1,242,611 

    

Non-controlling interests 4,137  431,534 
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19 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (CONTINUED) 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 
    

Rental revenue and other operating revenue 23,894  25,605 

Revaluation loss (12,767)  - 

Operating expenses (29,081)  (25,039) 

General and administrative expenses (15,204)  (17,571) 

    

Loss for the year (33,158)  (17,005) 

    

Loss  attributable to parent of the Company  (22,863)  (11,892) 

Loss  attributable to non-controlling interests  (10,295)  (5,113) 

    

Loss for the year (33,158)  (17,005) 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Net cash from (used in) operation activities  25,844  (547) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (24,843)  (20,637) 

Net cash (used in) from financing activities  (1,603)  21,063 
 

 
 

 

Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents (602)  973 

 

20 CONTRIBUTION TO SOCIAL AND SPORTS ACTIVITIES FUND 

 

In accordance with Law No 8 of 2011 (Amendment to Law No. 13 of 2008), the Group made an appropriation of 

profit in amount of QR 42,330 thousands (2016: QR 45,311 thousands) equivalent to 2.5% of the consolidated net 

profit for the year for the support of sports, cultural, social and charitable activities. 

 

21 COMPONENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Beginning balance 329,580  605,559 

Movement (312,254)  (275,979) 

    

Ending balance 17,326  329,580  

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

Fair value reserves movement    

Available-for-sale financial assets:    

Net (gain) loss on available-for-sale financial assets (212,619)  356,686 

Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets reclassified to 

consolidated statement of income (181,653)  (691,204) 

Reclassification of impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets 

charged to consolidated statement of income 67,487  51,286 

    

Net loss on available-for-sale financial assets (Note 11) (326,785)  (283,232) 

    

Movement in foreign currency reserve (1,800)  - 

    

Gain on cash flow hedges  17,198  6,267 

    

Share of net movement in fair value reserves of associates (Note 13) (2,667)  986 

    

Total other comprehensive loss for the year (314,054)  (275,979) 

 



Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2017  

50 

 

 

22 OTHER OPERATING REVENUES 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Compensation from government (Note i) 171,971  6,116 

Food and beverage revenue 21,748  17,046 

Entertainment revenue 10,684  2,290 

Health club income 6,521  8,136 

Internet income 6,349  8,082 

Property management fees 5,159  6,307 

Laundry revenue 1,288  1,622 

Rebate commission 1,286  7,279 

Others 3,763  26,671 

    

 228,769  83,549 

 

Note i 

This pertaining to the amounts received from the Qatari Government during the year in respect of properties 

acquired by the Government from the Group. 

 

 

23 OPERATING EXPENSES 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Staff costs 94,045  90,485 

Electricity and water 59,929  61,040 

Sewage expenses 36,321  40,659 

Maintenance expenses 45,138  41,121 

Cleaning 23,565  20,092 

Air-conditioning 25,105  20,454 

Security 21,475  21,465 

Food and beverage 9,203  7,072 

Laundry and dry cleaning 5,830  5,662 

Generators and equipment rental 2,260  2,733 

Operating lease expenses 10,108  14,422 

Commission 913  1,157 

Other expenses 18,871  9,773 

    

 352,763  336,135 

 

 

24 OTHER INCOME 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Profit on Islamic bank accounts (Note 26) 42,872  12,599 

Miscellaneous income 14,589  2,970 

    

 57,461  15,569 
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25 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Staff costs 126,063  131,673 

Executive Committee benefits 35,400  34,693 

Consulting, legal & professional expenses 21,088  23,711 

Advertising and marketing 11,402  11,406 

Qatar Exchange registration fees 8,408  8,364 

Allowance for impairment of tenants receivable 6,248  37,231 

Information systems expenses 5,901  6,806 

Communication 4,941  5,936 

Lease expenses 4,780  2,640 

Provision for slow moving inventory (Note 9) 4,683  - 

Bank charges 3,612  3,119 

Insurance 3,248  4,387 

Printing & Stationery 1,323  1,391 

Board of Directors remunerations (Note 10)  -  12,983 

Donations -  1,000 

Other expenses 4,887  12,542 

    

 241,984  297,882 

 
 

26 FINANCE COSTS AND INCOME 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

Finance costs    

Profits charged by banks on Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings (Note 16) 752,807  667,736 

Less: capitalized finance costs (Note 12) (49,543)  (44,483) 

    

Banks profits charged to the consolidated statement of income 703,264  623,253 

    

Finance income    

Profit on Islamic bank accounts (Note 24) 42,872  12,599 

 

 

27 EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the parent for the 

year by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.  

 

 2017  2016 

    

    

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent (QR’000) 1,693,201  1,812,456 

    

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent from continuing operations 

(QR’000) 1,695,845 
 

1,819,471 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year  

(thousands of share) 2,652,497 
 

2,652,497 

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share (QR) 0.64  0.68 

    

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (QR) 0.64  0.69 

 

There were no potentially dilutive shares outstanding at any time during the year. Therefore, the diluted earnings 

per share are equal to the basic earnings per share. 
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28 DIVIDENDS 

 

At the General Assembly meeting held on 16 April 2017, the shareholders approved a cash dividend of QR 0.50 

per share totaling to QR 1,326,248 thousand for the year ended 2016 (2016:QR 0.50 per share totalling to QR 

1,326,248 thousand for the year ended 2015). 
 

 

29 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The Group entered into profit rate swap contracts effective up to 2024 in order to hedge against the profit rate risk 

arising from certain Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  obtained at variable profit rates. Under the terms of 

the profit rate swap contracts, the Group pays fixed rate of profit and  will receive floating profit based on 1M/3M 

LIBOR. The terms of the profit rate swap contracts have been negotiated to match the terms of the Sukuk and 

Islamic financing borrowings . 
 

Derivative financial instrument included in the statement of financial position are as follows; 
 

 
Positive 

fair value 

 Notional 

amount 

 Within 3 

months 

 3 to 12 

months 

 1 to 5 

years 

 More than 

5 years 

 QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000 

At 31 December 2017            

            

PRS contracts 1 1,808  449,832  -  -  1,808  - 

PRS contracts 2 4,821  422,700  -  -  4,821  - 

PRS contracts 3 8,765  742,223  -  -  8,765  - 

PRS contracts 4 7,773  1,675,090  -  -  -  7,773 

            

  23,167  3,289,845  -  -  15,394  7,773 
 

Positive  fair value is included in the receivables and prepayments in Note 8. 
 

 
Positive 

fair value 

 Notional 

amount 

 Within 3 

months 

 3 to 12 

months 

 1 to 5 

years 

 More than 

5 years 

 QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000  QR ‘000 

At 31 December 2016            

            

PRS contracts 1 63  749,721  -  -  63  - 

PRS contracts 2 2,261  581,212  -  -  2,261  - 

PRS contracts 3 3,646  1,012,123  -  -  3,646  - 

            

  5,970  2,343,056  -  -  5,970  - 

 

 

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Bank guarantees 4,570  3,105 
 

The Group anticipates that no material liabilities will arise from the above guarantees and letter of credits, which are 

issued in the ordinary course of business. 

  



Ezdan Holding Group Q.S.C. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
At 31 December 2017  

53 

 

 

31 COMMITMENTS 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Contractual commitments to contractors and suppliers for development of 

projects 48,781  478,110 

 

Note 

Contractual commitments to contractors and suppliers amounted to QR Nil (2016: QR 306,443) is relating to 

Emtedad Real Estate for Projects W.L.L., a subsidiary of the Group for more than one year. 

 

Legal cases 

As at 31 December 2017, various legal cases were initiated by third parties against the Group. In the opinion of the 

Group’s lawyers it would be difficult to reliably estimate the compensation that may be awarded. However, the 

Group’s lawyers believe, based on previous experience and available information, that the Group is unlikely to 

incur losses as a result of these claims. No provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements.   

 

 

32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 

Risk management framework 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems 

are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Group, through 

its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 

environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 

The management is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and 

procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the 

Group. 

 

The Group of companies follow the Group risk management policies, being that the activities of the subsidiaries of 

the Group are monitored by the Company’s Board of Directors and Committees. 

 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 

risk management framework, and implementing the same through the Executive Committees. Executive 

Committees report regularly to the Board on its activities, either on ad-hoc basis or periodically. 
 

The Group has exposure to the following risks: 
 

(i)  credit risk 

(ii) liquidity risk 

(iii) market risk 

(iv) operational risks 

(v) real estate risk 

(iv) other risks 

  

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risks, and the Group’s management of capital. Further 

quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. 

 

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables from rental activities, 

refundable deposits, bank balances and due from related parties.  
 

For risk management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure 

(such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 (CONTINUED) 

 

Credit risk (continued) 

 

Exposure to credit risk 

The carrying amounts of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit 

risk at the reporting date was: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Banks balances (excluding cash) 370,572  424,823 

Receivables, refundable deposits and other receivables 83,269  64,086 

Due from related parties 34,683  9,627 

    

 488,524  498,536 

 

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or damage 

to the Group’s reputation. 
 

The Group uses project-based costing to cost its projects and services, which assists it in monitoring cash flow 

requirements and optimising its cash return on investments. Typically the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash 

on demand to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations, this excludes 

the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.  
 

The Group monitors its bank accounts and cash requirements through monthly budgets and reviews actual versus 

budgeted cash movements on a daily basis, as to ensure that cash and bank accounts are managed in the optimum 

manner to the Group. 
 

The following are the contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities excluding the impact of 

netting agreements, if any: 

31 December 2017 

Carrying 

amounts 

 Contractual 

cash in (out) 

flows 

 

Less than  

1 year 

 

1 – 2 

 years 

 

2 – 5 

years 

 

More than  

5 years 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

            

Financial Assets            

Cash and bank balances  371,120  371,120  371,120  -  -  - 

Due from related parties  34,683  34,683  34,683  -  -  - 

Net tenants receivable  57,600  57,525  57,525  -  -  - 

Refundable deposits  18,617  18,617  -  -  18,617  - 

Derivative financial assets 23,168  23,168  23,168  -  -  - 

Other receivables 7,052  7,052  7,052  -  -  - 

            

 512,240  512,165  493,548  -  18,617  - 

            

Financial Liabilities            

Sukuk and Islamic financing 

borrowings   16,270,461  (17,723,830)  (3,040,301)  (3,892,825)  (7,947,741)  (2,842,963) 

Due to  related parties 1,558,880  (1,558,880)  -  (1,558,880)  -  - 

Contractors and suppliers 

payable 103,767  (103,767)  (103,767)  -  -  - 

Retention payable 31,852  (31,852)  -  (31,852)  -  - 

Tenants deposits 144,830  (144,830)  (144,830)  -  -  - 

Accrued expenses 52,899  (52,899)  (52,899)  -  -  - 

Other payables 19,141  (19,141)  (19,141)  -  -  - 

Provision for Social and 

Sports Activities Fund 42,330  (42,330)  (42,330)  -  -  - 

            

 18,224,160  (19,677,529)  (3,403,268)  (5,483,557)  (7,947,741)  (2,842,963) 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 (CONTINUED) 
 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

31 December 2016 

Carrying 

amounts 

 Contractual 

cash in (out) 

flows 

 

Less than  

1 year 

 

1 – 2 

 years 

 

2 – 5 

years 

 

More than  

5 years 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

            

Financial Assets            

Cash and bank balances  426,177  426,177  426,177  -  -  - 

Due from related parties  9,627  9,627  9,627  -  -  - 

Net tenants receivable  24,893  24,893  24,893  -  -  - 

Refundable deposits  18,555  18,555  -  -  18,555  - 

Derivative financial assets 5,970  5,970  5,970  -  -  - 

Other receivables 20,638  20,638  20,638  -  -  - 

            

 505,860  505,860  487,305  -  18,555  - 

            

Financial Liabilities            

Sukuk and Islamic financing 

borrowings   15,926,929  (17,453,427)  (2,220,700)  (4,354,759)  (6,435,929)  (4,442,039) 

Due to  related parties 1,537,886  (1,537,886)  (27,276)  (1,510,610)  -  - 

Contractors and suppliers 

payable 711,249  (711,249)  (77,469)  (633,780)  -  - 

Retention payable 298,723  (298,723)  -  (298,723)  -  - 

Tenants deposits 154,289  (154,289)  (154,289)  -  -  - 

Accrued expenses 77,382  (77,382)  (77,382)  -  -  - 

Other payables 18,221  (18,221)  (18,221)  -  -  - 

Provision for Social and 

Sports Activities Fund 45,311  (45,311)  (45,311)  -  -  - 

            

 18,769,990  (20,296,488)  (2,620,648)  (6,797,872)  (6,435,929)  (4,442,039) 

 

Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, profit rates and equity prices 

will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the 

return.  
 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 

rates. As the QR is pegged to the US Dollar, balances denominated in US Dollars are not considered to represent 

significant currency risks. 

 

Management  is  of  the  opinion  that  the  Group’s   exposure  to  currency  risk  is  minimal  as  the Group’s 

significant transactions are denominated in Qatari Riyal (QR) and the US Dollar, which is pegged against QR. 

 

Profit rate risk 

Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 

changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market profit rates relates primarily 

to the Group’s islamic financing borrowings  and  term deposits with floating profit rates. 
 

The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that profit rates on short term deposits and borrowing costs rate on and 

islamic financing borrowings  exposures are reviewed monthly, and that finance cost rates are not subject to present 

fluctuations in profit rates. Also the Group’s policy ensures that most of the exposure on profit rates on borrowings 

are on a fixed basis or are based on Qatar Central Bank MRL rates , unless, the variable basis are in favourable 

terms to the Group. 
 

To manage certain floating profit rate borrowings, the Group enters into profit rate swaps, in which it agrees to 

exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable profit rate amounts calculated by 

reference to an agreed-upon notional principal amount. 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 (CONTINUED) 

 

Market risk (continued) 

At the reporting date the profit rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Term deposits 200,000  10,054 

    

Islamic financing borrowings  (8,773,804)  (10,109,297) 

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of equity and profit or loss to reasonably possible changes in profit 

rates by 25 basis points, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of equity and profit or loss is the 

effect of the assumed changes in profit rates for one year, based on the floating rate financial instruments held at 31 

December after impact of hedge accounting. The effect of decreases in profit rates is expected to be equal and 

opposite to the effect of the increases shown. 

   

 Net effect on 

profit or loss 

 +25b.p 

 QR’000 
  

At 31 December 2017 (21,435) 

  

At 31 December 2016 (25,248) 

 

Equity price risk 

The Group’s listed equity securities are susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertainties about future 

values of the investment securities. The Group manages the equity price risk through diversification in terms of 

industry concentration and by placing limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports on the equity 

portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior management on a regular basis.  

 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the effect of cumulative changes in fair value of the Group to 

reasonably possible changes in quoted equity share prices, with all other variables held constant. The effect of 

decrease in equity prices is expected to be equal and opposite to the effect of the increase shown. 

 

 Changes in 

equity prices 

 Effect on 

equity 

 Effect on 

equity 

   QR’000  QR’000 

   2017  2016 

      

Available for sale financial assets  +10%  236,765  655,331 

 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s 

processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 

risks such as those arising from generally accepted standards of corporate behavior. Operational risks arise from all 

of the Group’s operations. 

 

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 

to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and 

creativity. 
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 (CONTINUED) 

 

Operational risk (continued) 

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is 

assigned to senior management within each department. This responsibility is supported by the development of 

overall Group standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas: 

 

 requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions. 

 requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions. 

 compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements documentation of controls and procedures. 

 requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified. 

 requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action. 

 development of contingency plans. 

 training and professional development. 

 ethical and business standards. 

 risk mitigation, including insurance of property and against embezzlement, where this is effective. 

 

Real estate risk 

The Group has identified the following risks associated with the real estate portfolio: 

 

 The cost of the development schemes may increase if there are delays in the planning process. The Group uses 

its related parties in developing most of its projects, which employs experts in the specific planning 

requirements in the scheme’s location in order to reduce the risks that may arise in the planning process, and 

utilizes the accumulated experience in contracting for the purpose of reducing development costs as compared 

to the relevant market. 

 A major tenant may become insolvent causing a significant loss of rental income and a reduction in the value 

of the associated property. To reduce this risk, the Group reviews the financial status of all prospective major 

tenants and decides on the appropriate level of security required via rental deposits or guarantees. 

 The exposure of the fair values of the portfolio to market and occupier fundamentals. 

 

Other risks 

Other risks to which the Group is exposed are regulatory risk, legal risk, and reputational risk. Regulatory risk is 

controlled through a framework of compliance policies and procedures. Legal risk is managed through the effective 

use of internal and external legal advisers. Reputational risk is controlled through the regular examination of issues 

that are considered to have reputational repercussions for the Group, with guidelines and policies being issued as 

appropriate. 

 

Capital management 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of ordinary shares and retained earnings of the 

Group. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net operating income 

divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

 

The Group’s main objectives when managing capital are: 

 

 to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 

shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;  

 to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the level 

of risk; and 

 to remain within the Group’s quantitative banking covenants and attain a strong credit rating. 

 

Further, the Board seeks to maintain a balance between higher targeted returns and the advantages and security 

afforded by the strong capital position of the Group.  
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32 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT, OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 (CONTINUED) 

 

Capital management (continued) 

The Group’s net debt to equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  16,270,461  15,926,929 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (366,550)  (423,072) 

    

Net debt 15,903,911  15,503,857 

    

Total equity 30,156,864  30,573,692 

    

Net debt to equity ratio at 31 December 53%  51% 

 

On the other hand, the Board reviews regularly the borrowing to value ratio, which is calculated as the amount of 

outstanding debt divided by the fair value of investment properties and available –for- sale financial assets. The 

Group’s policy is to keep average borrowing to value at a low risk ratio. 

 

The Group’s borrowing to value ratio at the reporting date was as follows: 

 

 2017  2016 

 QR’000  QR’000 

    

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings  16,270,461  15,926,929 

Fair value of investment properties and available –for- sale financial assets 46,290,738  45,473,105 

    

Borrowing to value ratio at 31 December 35%  35% 

 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders, and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016. 

Capital includes share capital, retained earnings and legal reserve is measured at QR 30,135,247 thousand at 31 

December 2017 (31 December 2016: QR 29,810,624 thousand). 
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33 FAIR VALUES 

  

Accounting classifications and fair values 

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, are as follows: 

  

 2017  2016 

 
Carrying  

values 

 Fair 

values  

 Carrying 

values 

 Fair 

Values 

 QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

Financial assets        

Bank balances  370,572  370,572  424,823  424,823 

Available for- sale- financial assets 2,470,953  2,470,953  6,553,307  6,553,307 

Due from related parties  34,683  34,683  9,627  9,627 

Receivables, refundable deposits, 

derivative financial assets and other 

receivables 106,362  106,362 

 

70,056  70,056 

        

 2,982,570  2,982,570  7,057,813  7,057,813 

        

Financial liabilities        

Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings   16,270,461  16,270,461  15,926,929  15,926,929 

Due to a related party 1,558,880  1,558,880  1,537,886  1,537,886 

Payables and other liabilities, excluding 

unearned rent, and advances from 

customers 1,157,846  1,157,846 

 

1,736,337  1,736,337 

        

 18,987,187  18,987,187  19,201,152  19,201,152 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of the Group’s assets by 

valuation technique: 

 

Level 1:   quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 

observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 

based on observable market data 

 

The following table shows an analysis of assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy: 

 

At 31 December 2017 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

        

        

Available for- sale- financial assets 2,367,648  103,305  -  2,470,953 

 

At 31 December 2016 

Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

        

Available for- sale- financial assets 4,050,440  2,502,867  -  6,553,307 

 

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 

measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements. 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on its business activities and has four 

reportable segments, as follows: 

 

 Residential and commercial properties

  

The segment includes developing, owning, trading and renting of real 

estates.  

 Investments  The segment is engaged in investing activities including shares and Sukuk. 

 Hotel and suites  The segment includes managing hotels, suites, and restaurants. 

 Mall                                                     The segment includes management of shopping malls. 

 Distribution and publishing of news 

papers 

The segment includes printing, publishing and distribution of newspapers 

  

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. 

 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions 

about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss 

and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

The following table presents revenues and expenses regarding the Group’s operating segments. 

 

31 December 2017 

Residential 

and 

commercial 

properties 

 

 

 

 

Investments 

 

 

 

Hotels and 

suites 

 

 

 

 

Malls 

 

 

Adjustments 

and 

eliminations 

 

 

 

 

Total 

  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
            

Rental income 1,186,236  -  203,480  145,244  (47,405)  1,487,555 

Other operating revenues 176,209  1,286  39,996  11,790  (512)  228,769 

Dividends income from available for sale financial assets -  241,848  -  -  -  241,848 

Net gain on sale of available for sale financial assets -  464,932  -  -  35,289  500,221 

Net gain on sale of investments in associates -  177,777  -  -  -  177,777 

Share from the results of associates and joint ventures -  141,354  -  -  -  141,354 

Other income  45,469  70  -  1,303  10,619  57,461 

Operating expenses  (206,688)  -  (81,826)  (79,502)  15,253  (352,763) 

General and administrative expenses (234,814)  (2,350)  (30,356)  (7,129)  32,665  (241,984) 

Depreciation (5,275)  -  (2,096)  (8,225)  -  (15,596) 

            

Segment profit  961,137  1,024,917  129,198  63,481  45,909  2,224,642 
            

Gain on revaluation of investment properties  427,748  -  -  -  -  427,748 

Impairment loss of available-for-sale-financial assets -  (67,487)  -  -  -  (67,487) 

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  (33,895)  (33,895) 

Impairment loss of investments in associates -  (162,194)  -  -  -  (162,194) 

Finance costs (703,264)  -  -  -  -  (703,264) 

Loss from discontinued operations  -  -  -  -  (3,549)  (3,549) 
            

Net profit  685,621  795,236  129,198  63,481  8,465  1,682,001 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

31 December 2016 

Residential 

and 

commercial 

properties 

 

 

 

 

Investments 

 

 

 

Hotels and 

suites 

 

 

 

 

Malls 

 

 

Publishing 

and 

Distribution 

 

 

Adjustments 

and 

eliminations 

 

 

 

 

Total 

  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 
              

Rental income  1,258,986   -  242,308        145,390   -  (41,640)  1,605,044 

Other operating revenues  19,561    20,570   38,180           6,917    27,816   (29,495)  83,549 

Dividends income from available for sale financial assets -   226,892   -  -  -  -  226,892 

Net gain on sale of available for sale financial assets -   755,976   -  -  -  -  755,976 

Net gain on sale of investments in associates -   210,334   -  -  -  -  210,334 

Share from the results of associates and joint ventures -  189,804  -  -  -  -  189,804 

Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary  -   41,241   -  -  -  -  41,241 

Gain on acquisition of an associate -   37,371   -  -  -  -  37,371 

Other income   14,635    45   -              895    306   (312)  15,569 

Operating expenses   (212,787)  -      (78,525)     (61,534)   (34,472)  51,183  (336,135) 

General and administrative expenses  (257,659)   (1,911)      (38,573)   (16,361)   (5,425)  22,047  (297,882) 

Depreciation (7,163)  -        (2,111)  (5,422)   (1,036)  1,036  (14,696) 

              

Segment profit   815,573   1,480,322  161,279  69,885  (12,811)  2,819  2,517,067 
              

Loss on revaluation of investment properties   (28,173)  -  -  -  -  -  (28,173) 

Impairment loss of available-for-sale-financial assets -  (51,286)  -  -  -  -  (51,286) 

Finance costs  (623,253)  -  -  -  -  -  (623,253) 
              

Net profit   164,147   1,429,036  161,279  69,885  (12,811)  2,819  1,814,355 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

The following table presents assets and liabilities of the Group’s operating segments as of 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016. 

 

31 December 2017 

Residential 

and 

commercial 

properties  

 

 

 

Investments 

 

 

 

Hotels  

and suites 

 

 

 

 

Mall 

 

 

Adjustments 

and 

eliminations 

 

 

 

 

Total 

  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

            

 Segment assets             

 Cash and bank balances  357,535  67  1,489  12,029  -  371,120 

 Receivables and prepayments  248,577  4,763,820  27,188  89,042  (4,821,314)  307,313 

 Inventories 11,075  -  11,190  -  -  22,265 

 Investments in associates and joint ventures  -  1,425,907  -  -  -  1,425,907 

 Available-for-sale-financial assets -  2,470,953  -  -  -  2,470,953 

 Investment properties 37,624,894  -  4,936,638  1,258,253  -  43,819,785 

 Property and equipment 15,434  -  784,355  32,624  -  832,413 
            

Total assets 38,257,515  8,660,747  5,760,860  1,391,948  (4,821,314)  49,249,756 
            

 Segment liabilities             

 Payables and other liabilities  7,537,430  -  66,702  67,526  (4,849,227)  2,822,431 

 Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings    16,270,461  -  -  -  -  16,270,461 

            

Total liabilities 23,807,891  -  66,702  67,526  (4,849,227)  19,092,892 

 

Geographically, the Group operates in the State of Qatar and the United Kingdom. Qatar operations contributed approximately 100% of the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 

2017 (31 December 2016: 100%), and approximately 99.97 % (31 December 2016: 99.72%) of its assets. 
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34 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 

31 December 2016 

Residential 

and 

commercial 

properties  

 

 

 

Investments 

 
Hotels  

and  

suites 

 

 

 

 

Mall 

 

 

Publishing 

and 

Distribution 

 

 

Adjustments 

and 

eliminations 

 

 

 

 

Total 

  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000  QR’000 

              

 Segment assets               

 Cash and bank balances  357,512  35,308  2,605  14,178  16,574  -  426,177 

 Receivables and prepayments  913,626  99,888  171,436  75,092  30,802  (937,263)  353,581 

 Inventories 8,491  -  10,244  473  -  -  19,208 

 Investments in associates and joint ventures  -  3,279,040  -  -  -  -  3,279,040 

 Available-for-sale-financial assets -  6,553,151  -  -  156  -  6,553,307 

 Investment properties 32,748,228  -  4,919,660  1,251,910  -  -  38,919,798 

 Goodwill -  -  -  -  -  141,170  141,170 

 License  -  -  -  -  -  94,755  94,755 

 Property and equipment 16,873  -  3,639  15,659  5,585  -  41,756 
              

Total assets 34,044,730  9,967,387  5,107,584  1,357,312  53,117  (701,338)  49,828,792 
              

 Segment liabilities               

 Payables and other liabilities  3,178,133  840,782  27,952  56,314  156,278  (931,288)  3,328,171 

 Sukuk and Islamic financing borrowings    15,926,929  -  -  -  -  -  15,926,929 

              

Total liabilities 19,105,062  840,782  27,952  56,314  156,278  (931,288)  19,255,100 
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35 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Comparative figures presented for 2016 have been reclassified where necessary to preserve consistency with the 

2017 figures. Such reclassifications did not have any effect on the consolidated net profit or shareholders’ equity 

for the comparative year. 


